
TOWN OF STRATHAM 
 INCORPORATED 1716 

 
10 BUNKER HILL AVENUE • STRATHAM NH 03885 

 
VOICE (603) 772-7391 • FAX (603) 775-0517 

 
 

The Select Board reserves the right to take up business in any order deemed appropriate by the Chair.  A motion to 
enter Non-Public Session in accordance with RSA 91-A:3 may occur at any time during the meeting.  Submission of 
items to be placed on the Agenda must be to the Town Administrator by 4 pm the Wednesday before the scheduled 
meeting. 

MEMORANDUM 
 

 
TO: Michael Houghton, Select Board  
 Allison Knab, Select Board 
 Joe Anderson, Select Board 
 
FROM: David Moore, Town Administrator 
 
DATE: March 15, 2022 
 
RE: Select Board Agenda and Materials for the March 21, Regular Meeting 
 
 
Please allow this memorandum to serve as a guide to the Select Board Meeting agenda for 
March 21, 2022.   
 
III. Consideration of Minutes – March 7, 2022   
 
The minutes from your meeting on March 7, 2022 are included in your packet for your review 
and consideration for acceptance at your meeting.   
 
IV. Treasurer Report (second meeting of the month) 
 
V. Department Reports & Presentations 
 Nate Mears – Director of Public Works 
 
VI. Correspondence 
 A.  Request from Exeter Area Garden Club Concerning Bake Sales at Elections 

B.  Resignation Letter from Chuck Law (Retirement) 
 C.  Unitil Correspondence Regarding Herbicide Treatment  
 
 VII. Public Comment 
 
VIII. Public Hearings, Ordinances and/or Resolutions 
 
IX. Discussion of Monthly Reports – (second meeting of the Month)  



TOWN OF STRATHAM 
INCORPORATED 1716 

 
10 BUNKER HILL AVENUE • STRATHAM NH 03885 

 
VOICE (603) 772-7391 • FAX (603) 775-0517 

 
 

X. New Business and Action Items 
 

A. First Select Board Meeting Following Town Meeting 
 

a. Select Board Election of Officers 
 
At the first meeting following the Town Meeting, the Board elects a Chair and Vice-Chair as well 
as attends to other organizational issues described below.  
 

b. Select Board Adoption of Rules and Procedures 
 
The Board has adopted Board Rules and Procedures annually.  The current document in use is 
included in your packet for your review.  If you have suggestions for improvement, I will be 
happy to hear from Board members before or during the meeting with topics you would like to 
see revisited and I will track them for the Boards discussion. 
 

c. Select Board Adoption of Policies  
 
For the past two years the Select Board has adopted a compendium of policies at its first 
meeting.  The goal in doing so is to keep the policies in front of the Board and prompt the Board 
to revisit and refresh individual policies as needed.   
 

d. Select Board and Board & Commission Liaison Assignments 
 
In your packet you will find a spreadsheet that will prompt the Board for the various roles for 
Select Board members as official representatives to Boards & Commissions and representatives 
to other groups, and department-linkages.  I have held over the 2021 information for reference 
only. 
 

e. Select Board – 2nd Signer on Bank Accounts  
 
Our bank accounts have two signers. Former Select Board Member Lovejoy served this role 
during the last several years.  We would ask the Board identify a new Board member to take on 
this role.   

 
B. Wrap-up of Town Meeting 

 
The item is for the purposes of reviewing Town Meeting 2022 



TOWN OF STRATHAM 
INCORPORATED 1716 

 
10 BUNKER HILL AVENUE • STRATHAM NH 03885 

 
VOICE (603) 772-7391 • FAX (603) 775-0517 

 
 

 
C. Fire Department – Transition to New Chief 

 
As you know, the membership of the Department elected a new Chief, Jeff Denton, who will 
replace Chief Larrabee who did not seek election.  I have reached out to the new Chief and have 
offered time to meet and review the administrative, financial and personnel interactions of the 
department here at the Town Offices of his role and we plan to meet in the coming weeks. 
 

D. Implementation of new Route 33 Heritage District (Article 6 from 2022 Town 
Meeting). 

 
Please see below a note from Mark Connors concerning the newly passed zoning. 
 
The Route 33 Heritage District passed overwhelmingly at the Town Election on March 8, 2022. 
The updated zoning requires the Select Board to appoint a designee to the Route 33 Heritage 
District Advisory Committee within 120 days of the passage of the Ordinance. The Planning 
Board and Heritage Commission are also afforded the opportunity to make their own 
appointments. The Select Board’s appointee could be a member of the Select Board or it could 
be anyone else appointed by the Select Board, so long as he or she is a resident of Stratham. 
The Ordinance encourages, but does not require, that at least one member of the Advisory 
Committee be a resident of the District.  
 
The Board does have some time to address this, but it would be helpful for the Board to discuss 
how it would like to approach the appointment issue and if Town Staff should actively recruit 
for applicants. As far as a time commitment, there will be some initial work up-front to adopt 
guidelines and other introductory frameworks, however it should not be a very large time 
commitment moving forward and include no more than one meeting per month. 
 

E. Discussion of Compliance with Zoning Ordinance and Demolition of Historic 
Properties 

 
At the request of the Mike Houghton I am including in your packet a memorandum from the 
building Inspector pertaining to fines for zoning violations in response a concern raised by the 
Heritage Commission concerning unauthorized demolition of historic properties.  
 

F. Discussion of Large Groundwater Withdrawal Permit (Third Party Review) 
 



TOWN OF STRATHAM 
INCORPORATED 1716 

 
10 BUNKER HILL AVENUE • STRATHAM NH 03885 

 
VOICE (603) 772-7391 • FAX (603) 775-0517 

 
 

At your meeting on February 22nd, the Board requested that I obtain a third-party review of the 
Large Groundwater Withdrawal Permit by Golf Club of New England for their seasonal 
withdrawal for irrigation purposes at the golf course.  I am to receive the third party report on 
Friday the 18th and if received in time, I will include it in this packet.  After a review of the 
documentation, I would look for guidance from the Board relative to submitting comments to 
DES as part of their review of the renewal application.    

 
G. PFAS in Town Center 

 
a. Long-term study on PFAS management 

 
Underwood Engineers will be present to report out on the status of the engineering report 
funded by NH DES studying alternative available for the Town in managing the PFAS 
contamination in Town Center into the future.   
 

b. Update on water quality discussions town-wide 
 
As you know, at Town Meeting a resident spoke regarding his homeowner associations’ 
experience in responding to new drinking water standards for arsenic and the costs associated 
with compliance.  We know this is a scenario facing at least two other large homeowner/condo 
associations and we are working to learn more about the challenges facing these residents.  As 
a reminder, I along with Building Inspector/Code Enforcement Officer Jim Marchese will be 
participating in the first Seacoast Private-Well Water Initiative (week of March 21st) organized 
by the State of NH that will be a focused outreach effort to owners of private wells and 
providing free testing and assistance in interpreting and following-up on results. 
 
  



TOWN OF STRATHAM 
INCORPORATED 1716 

 
10 BUNKER HILL AVENUE • STRATHAM NH 03885 

 
VOICE (603) 772-7391 • FAX (603) 775-0517 

 
 

XI. Town Administrator Report 
 
I will present developments associated with open items and other business of the Town.  If any 
Board member has a specific request of an item I cover at the meeting I welcome hearing from 
you at any time. 
  
XII. Informational Items 
 

A. Old Town Hall Annual Monitoring Report & Policy – Select Board copy 
B. Summary on RSA 91-A – Public Meetings 
C. Select Board Meeting Schedule – Revised 2-15-2022 
D. Draft 2022 Organizational Goals – Preparation for April 4 Goals Discussion 

 
XIII. Reservations, Event Requests & Permits 
 
 
XIV. Review of Recent or Upcoming Board & Commissions Agendas 
 
  
XV.  Boards and Commissions Nominations & Appointments 
 

A.  Appointments for consideration:  Nancy Hunter for appointment to the Recreation  
      Commission to fill the vacant position for a term of three years ending 2025. 
 
B.  Appointments to be voted on:  None for this meeting 

 
XVI. Miscellaneous & Old Business 
 
 
XVII. Adjournment 



TOWN OF STRATHAM 
 INCORPORATED 1716 

 
10 BUNKER HILL AVENUE • STRATHAM NH 03885 

 
VOICE (603) 772-7391 • FAX (603) 775-0517 

 
 

The Select Board reserves the right to take up business in any order deemed appropriate by the Chair.  A motion to 
enter Non-Public Session in accordance with RSA 91-A:3 may occur at any time during the meeting.  Submission of 
items to be placed on the Agenda must be to the Town Administrator by 4 pm the Wednesday before the scheduled 
meeting. 

SELECT BOARD AGENDA 
MARCH 21, 2022 

7:00 P.M. 
 

A Non-public Session of the Board will begin at 6:15 p.m. at the Municipal Center 
 

Hutton Room, Stratham Municipal Center 
10 Bunker Hill Avenue, Stratham, NH 03885 

 
This meeting of the Select Board will be held in the Hutton Room of the Stratham Municipal 
Center 
 
The public may access this meeting at the date and time above using this conference call 
information.  Please dial the conference number (877) 205 7349 and input 2254 when 
prompted for a user pin/code. 
 
If at any time during the meeting you have difficulty hearing the proceedings, please e-mail 
dmoore@strathamnh.gov. 
 
To access materials related to this meeting, please see this link:  
https://www.strathamnh.gov/select-board 

 

There will be a non-public session of the Select Board beginning at 6:15 p.m. 
 
I. Call to order 
 
II. Roll Call 
 
III. Consideration of Minutes – March 7, 2022  
 
IV. Treasurer Report (second meeting of the month) 
  
V. Department Reports & Presentations 
 A.  Nate Mears – Public Works Department 
 
VI. Correspondence 

A.  Request from Exeter Area Garden Club Concerning Bake Sales at Elections 
B.  Resignation Letter from Chuck Law (Retirement) 

https://www.strathamnh.gov/select-board


TOWN OF STRATHAM 
INCORPORATED 1716 

 
10 BUNKER HILL AVENUE • STRATHAM NH 03885 

 
VOICE (603) 772-7391 • FAX (603) 775-0517 

 
 

B.  Unitil Correspondence Regarding Herbicide Treatment 
 
VII. Public Comment 
 
VIII. Public Hearings, Ordinances and/or Resolutions 
 
 There are none for this meeting. 
 
IX. Discussion of Monthly Reports – (second meeting of the Month)  
 
X. New Business and Action Items 

A. First Select Board Meeting Following Town Meeting 
a. Select Board Election of Officers 
b. Select Board Adoption of Rules and Procedures 
c. Select Board Adoption of Policies  
d. Select Board and Board & Commission Liaisons 
e. Select Board – 2nd Signer on Bank Accounts 

B. Wrap-up of Town Meeting 
C. Fire Department – Transition to New Chief 
D. Implementation of new Route 33 Heritage District (Article 6 from 2022 Town 

Meeting). 
E. Discussion of Compliance with Zoning Ordinance and Demolition of Historic 

Properties 
F. Discussion of Large Groundwater Withdrawal Permit (Third Party Review)  
G. PFAS in Town Center 

a. Long-term study on PFAS management 
b. Update on water quality discussions town-wide 

  
XI. Town Administrator Report 
  
XII. Informational Items 

A. Old Town Hall Annual Monitoring Report – Select Board copy 
B. Summary on RSA 91-A Public Meetings  
C. Select Board Meeting Schedule – Revised 2-15-2022 
D. Draft 2022 Organizational Goals – Preparation for April 4 Goals Discussion 

  
XIII. Reservations, Event Requests & Permits 

 



TOWN OF STRATHAM 
INCORPORATED 1716 

 
10 BUNKER HILL AVENUE • STRATHAM NH 03885 

 
VOICE (603) 772-7391 • FAX (603) 775-0517 

 
 

XIV. Review of Recent or Upcoming Board & Commissions Agendas 
 
XV.  Boards and Commissions Nominations & Appointments 
 

A.  Appointments for consideration:  Nancy Hunter for appointment to the Recreation 
Commission to fill the vacant position for a term of three years ending 2025 
B.  Appointments to be voted on:   None for this meeting 

 
XVI. Miscellaneous & Old Business 
 
XVII. Adjournment 



MINUTES OF THE MARCH 7, 2022 SELECT BOARD MEETING 
Meeting held in the Hutton Room at the Stratham Municipal Center 
 
MEMBERS PRESENT:  Board Members Chair Mike Houghton, Vice Chair Joe Lovejoy.  
Allison Knab joined the meeting at 7:45 pm.   
 
ALSO PRESENT:  Town Administrator David Moore, Finance Administrator Christiane 
McAllister 
 
At 7:00 pm Mr. Houghton opened the regular meeting.   
 
Mr. Lovejoy motioned to accept the minutes from the February 3, 2022 and February 22, 2022 
Select Board meeting.  Mr. Houghton seconded the motion.  All voted in favor.   
 
Mr. Houghton called attention to the Treasurer’s Report.  Mr. Moore explained that work is 
being done to improve the report.  Ms. McAllister detailed some of the improvements and 
reported out on discussions with the Treasurer concerning the timing of statements and that the 
two are recommending the Board plan on receipt of Treasurer’s Report at the second meeting of 
the month.  Mr. Houghton agreed with the suggestion and no other objections were registered.  
 
Mr. Houghton recognized Library Director Lesley Kimball to give her department report.  Ms. 
Kimball reported that Voter Information Night was a success with 90 people logging in and 50 
people attending in person.  The video recording has gotten 63.5 hours of viewing time.  
Continuing to offer remote availability is important and beneficial.  Ms. Kimball anticipates 
increasing in person programming.  The library has received a grant for civic engagement.  The 
objective is to initiate community conversations regarding voting.  She is reaching out to the 
community and hopes to begin holding meetings the second week in April.  The goal is to 
generate a short term and one or two longer term projects.    
 
Another grant they received is Quality of Place Grant.  NH Listens (UNH Survey Center) will be 
conducting the survey.  The library will hold focus groups around what makes this area a great 
place to live and develop ideas on how we can enhance that.  She hopes to take advantage of 
information that’s already been gathered, such as the Master Plan, and develop ideas from that.   
 
Next, Ms. Kimball reported that the Library Trustees are working on the personnel policy.  Ms. 
McAllister has been a resource for them, providing help with Dept. of Labor policy and 
definitions.  A final draft is expected to be submitted in April to Primex for legal review.  An 
effort is being made to conform procedures, using current Town policy as a guide.  The Library 
has its own employment manual.  Because the Trustees are the hiring/firing authority for the 
library, it is recommended they have their own personnel policy.   
 
Ms. Kimball recalled that at a prior meeting, there was conversation regarding library usage.  She 
explained the total (digital and physical) circulation has been the same for years, however the 
proportion has changed.  In 2019, digital use is going up; physical use is going down.  They are 
hoping that keeping the doors open for a full year and expanding the hours will increase the foot 
traffic.   



Select Board Meeting March 7, 2022 Page 2 of 3 

 
Ms. Kimball reported on the study being done to reconfigure the library floor plan to enable it to 
be more beneficial for library patrons.   They’ve narrowed it down to two designs.  One is easier 
to implement, however the other, although more difficult, is more beneficial to overall goals.  
She listed the benefits including, being able to integrate and utilize outdoor space so it feels like 
one space and incorporating a meeting and gathering space for the community.  A cost analysis 
will be the next step.  Demolition and construction required with both plans.   
   
Ms. Kimball wished Mr. Lovejoy well.   
 
Mr. Houghton moved to public comment section of the agenda and recognized resident and 
former Town Administrator Paul Deschaine.  Mr. Deschaine said he came to the meeting 
knowing it would be Mr. Lovejoy’s last as a Select Board member.  He wanted to thank Mr. 
Lovejoy and expressed appreciation for the time they worked together.  Mr. Lovejoy thanked 
Mr. Deschaine for his kind comments.   
 
Mr. Moore reported that preparations for election and town meeting are going well and final 
logistical preparations are being made.  
 
Mr. Houghton directed attention to the Police Dept. body worn cameras.  Mr. Moore said this 
was for information only.  They are not ready for action on it.  We are awaiting the terms of the 
grant.  Mr. Houghton would like to know more about the selection process and the policy 
regarding legal review when the matter comes back before the Board. 
 
Next Mr. Houghton moved to the park and turf item on the agenda.  Mr. Moore recalled the 
Request for Proposals that Director of Public Works Nate Mears sent out for maintenance of the 
grounds at the parks and cemeteries.  Mr. Mears recommends moving forward with Hillside 
Landscaping.  Mr. Lovejoy motioned to accept the proposal from Hillside Landscaping and 
authorize the Town Administrator or the Director of Public Works to sign the contract.  Mr. 
Houghton seconded the motion.  All voted in favor. 
 
Fire Chief Matt Larrabee joined the meeting.  Mr. Houghton moved the conversation to the 
discussion of the Ambulance Contract.  Chief Larrabee said that if Article 16 passes, they will be 
able to purchase a replacement for ambulance 2.  The money will come from the ambulance 
account.  He requested authorization to sign the contract, if the article passes, because the price is 
going up 7% on March 17 and he’d like to get it submitted prior to the price increase.  In 
addition, we can get a discount if we pay the entire bill at once.  Discussion ensued about selling 
it at state auction vs trading it in.  It was decided to sell it at auction.  Mr. Houghton motioned to 
authorize the Fire Chief to execute a contract with Greenwood Emergency Vehicles LLV for an 
ambulance related to warrant article 16 upon its successful passage at Town Meeting on March 
12, 2022.  Mr. Lovejoy seconded the motion.  All voted in favor.   
 
ADMINISTRATION 
Mr. Moore reported that Mr. Mears will be at the next meeting for his departmental report and 
plans to introduce topics for revision to the solid waste ordinance for the Board consideration.  
Mr. Deschaine, as the Stratham Representative and Chair of Lamprey Regional Cooperative, said 



Select Board Meeting March 7, 2022 Page 3 of 3 

he received an email today regarding unusual cost increases related to the pandemic and 
personnel affecting the Cooperative’s contract with Waste Management. He will coordinate a 
meeting with the other members of the executive committee to discuss and report back to Town 
Administrator Moore as necessary. 
 
Mr. Moore reported receiving notification that Officer Chuck Law will be retiring effective April 
30, 2022.  He anticipates Police Chief Anthony King will attend the next Select Board meeting to 
discuss the transition and next steps.   
 
Mr. Houghton asked about pending legislation found in the informational items.  Mr. Moore 
noted that we have been engaged with the legislators and sent two letters recently.  He stated that 
House Bill 1033 regarding Municipal Lobbying, is of concern.  This bill precludes towns from 
having their voices heard.  It would limit the ability of elected officials to make representatives 
aware of issues that would directly negatively impact residents in cities and towns in NH.  Mr. 
Deschaine added that he is following the issue for the town of Newington and the coalition 
communities have taken a stand against this bill.  An amendment is pending which softens the 
rhetoric, but the effect is no less harmful.  The Board supports writing a letter opposing the Bill.   
 
APPOINTMENTS 
Mr. Houghton noted there were two members up for reappointment to the Conservation 
Commission - William Kenny and Kyle Saltonstall.  Mr. Lovejoy motioned approval of both 
applications to the Conservation Commission renewing their three year terms.  Ms. Knab 
seconded the motion.  All voted in favor. 
 
At 8:30 pm Mr. Lovejoy motioned to adjourn.  Ms. Knab seconded the motion.  All voted in 
favor. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
Karen Richard 
Recording Secretary 
 
 
 
 
 



From: Karen Richard
To: David Moore
Cc: Deborah Bakie
Subject: Election Bake Sales (Not this election!)
Date: Monday, March 7, 2022 12:49:00 PM

Joanne St. Laurent, Exeter Area Garden Club, wanted to know the policy on bake
sales.  Pre-Covid, they had had bake sales when the election was at the municipal
center.  With Covid and the change in location, will they be allowed in the future?
I told her it may be a few weeks before we get back to her.  (778-1165).
 
 
Karen Richard
Town of Stratham
10 Bunker Hill Ave.
Stratham, NH 03885
603-772-4741 x187
 

mailto:KRichard@StrathamNH.gov
mailto:dmoore@StrathamNH.gov
mailto:DBakie@StrathamNH.gov


















 

TOWN OF STRATHAM,  
NEW HAMPSHIRE 

 

SELECT BOARD POLICY: 
RULES OF PROCEDURE 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Adopted February 5, 2007 
Revised November 17, 2008 

Revised April 9, 2018 
Revised May 14 & 21, 2018 

Revised September 21, 2020 
Readopted April 5, 2021  

____________ March 21, 2022 
  



 

2 
 
 

TOWN OF STRATHAM 
NEW HAMPSHIRE 

 
Select Board Rules of Procedure 

 
The following Rules of Procedure were adopted by a majority vote of the Stratham 
Select Board on February 5, 2007.  They were further revised by majority vote of the 
Select Board on November 17, 2008, April 9, 2018, and on May 14 & 21, 2018.  They 
were again revised on September 21, 2020; this version was readopted on April 5, 2021 
without changes from the previous reversion. 
 

Stratham Select Board 
 
 
 

___________________________________________ 
   Michael Houghton,  
 
 
 

___________________________________________ 
   Allison Knab,  
 
 
 

___________________________________________ 
   Joseph Anderson, Jr.,  
 
 
 
 
Date of filing with the Office of the Town Clerk: _____________________ 
 
 
Received by: __________________________________________________ 
  Deb Bakie, Town Clerk/Tax Collector 

 



 

3 
 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Select Board Meetings, Location Page 1 

Select Board Meetings, Time Page 1 

Select Board Meeting, Open To Public Page 1 

Election of Officers Page 1 

Presiding Officer Page 1 

Duties and Privileges of Select Board Page 2 

Quorum  Page 2 

Select Board Meeting Agenda Page 2 

Order of Business Page 3 

Town Administrator Page 3 

Clerk of Select Board Page 3 

Forms of Address Page 4 

Seating Arrangement Page 4 

Ethics Policy and Conflict of Interest Page 4 

Dissents and Protests Page 5 

Rules of Order Page 5 

Motions  Page 5 

Reconsideration and Recision Page 6 

Suspension of Rules Page 6 

Actions for Public Hearing Page 6 

Voting  Page 7 

Committees/Liaisons Page 8 



 

4 
 
 

Nominations/Appointments Page 9 

Enacted Ordinances, Resolutions, Motions - Defined Page 10 

Resolutions, Procedure for Adoption Page 10 

Ordinances, Procedure for Adoption   Page 10 

Complaints and Suggestions to Select Board Page 12 

Appendix A:  Ethics Policy  

Appendix B:  Optional Rules of Order    



 

1 
 
 

SECTION I 
 GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 
Rule 1.  Select Board Meeting – Location and Posting 
 
All meetings of the Town of Stratham Select Board (the Board) shall be held at the 
Stratham Municipal Center, unless the Board adjourns to another location or the meeting 
is scheduled for another location and is properly noticed.  In general, meetings of the 
Board must have at least 24-hour notice (not counting Saturdays and Holidays) prior to 
the meeting (RSA 91-A).  Notice must be either published in a newspaper, or posted in 
two prominent public places and on the Town’s Website.  Other statutes may require 
longer periods for and/or different types of notice, such as public hearings, depending on 
the action being considered.  (Added 5/21/2018) 
 
Rule 2.   Select Board Meeting – Day and Time 
 
Meetings of the Town of Stratham Select Board shall begin on the first and third Monday 
at 7:30  7:00 p.m., unless otherwise noticed, and/or continued to a specific time and date. 
(Revised 5/14/2018 and 9/21/2020) 
 
Rule 3.   Select Board Meetings - Open to the Public 
 
All meetings of the Town of Stratham Select Board and Committees thereof shall be open 
to the public, except as provided for by RSA 91-A. 
 
Rule 4.     Election of Officers 
 
Procedures for electing officers are as follows: 
 

(A) Annually, at the first meeting of the new Select Board, the members 
thereof shall choose, from among their number, a Chair and a Vice Chair.  In 
addition to the powers conferred upon the Chair and the Vice Chair, he/she 
shall continue to have all the rights, privileges, and immunities of a member 
of the Select Board. 

 
(B) The above election shall be by a majority vote of the Select Board present 
at the first meeting after the close of the Annual Town Meeting. 

 
Rule 5. Presiding Officer 
 
 (A) The Chair of the Select Board shall preside at all meetings of the Select 

Board, and be recognized as the head of the Town for all ceremonial 
purposes.  The Chair has no regular administrative or executive duties.  In 



 

2 
 
 

case of the Chair’s absence or temporary disability, the Vice Chair shall act 
as Chair during the continuance of the absence.  In case of the absence or 
temporary disability of both the Chair and the Vice Chair, an acting Vice 
Chair of the Select Board selected by members of the Select Board shall act 
as the Chair during the continuance of the absences or disabilities.  The 
Chair of the Select Board or the Vice Chair is referred to as "Presiding 
Officer" from time to time in these Rules of Procedure.  (Deleted 5/21/2018) 

 
 (B) The Presiding Officer shall preserve order and decorum, may participate 

in the discussion of any issue before the Select Board, may submit reports 
and legislation to the Select Board for its consideration, which shall require 
both motion and second by other members of the Select Board, may speak 
to points of order in preference to other members of the Select Board, and 
shall decide all questions of order or procedure, subject to appeal to the full 
Select Board as provided for in Appendix A.  The Presiding Officer is allowed 
to vote on any matter before the Board with the exception of a vote 
concerning the Officer’s ethical conduct. (Deleted 5/21/2015) 

 
Rule 6. Duties and Privileges of Select Board 
 

 The duties of the Select Board shall be those defined within the town charter, local 
ordinance, and the state law.  Members of the Select Board shall address the Board upon 
recognition by the Presiding Officer.  Select Board members may submit reports and 
legislation upon their own motion for discussion by the Select Board as a whole.  
Comment and debate shall be confined to the subject matter of the question.  No Select 
Board member shall be interrupted while speaking except for a point of order or correction 
of a mistake of fact. 
 
Rule 7. Quorum 
 
Three Two Select Board members  shall constitute a quorum for the conduct of town 
business. (Revised 4/9/2018) 
 
Rule 8. Select Board Meeting Agenda 
 
The Town Administrator or any member of the Select Board may place a matter upon the 
agenda.  The Town Administrator shall arrange a list of such matters according to the 
order of business and prepare an agenda for review by the Chair of the Select Board.  
Upon approval, a copy of the agenda and supporting materials shall be prepared for all 
Select Board members.  These materials shall be available at the Select Board’s Office 
on the Friday preceding a scheduled meeting of the Select Board.   
 

 Matters submitted by members of the public must be received at the Select Board’s office 



 

3 
 
 

by 4:00 PM on the Wednesday prior to a scheduled meeting in order to be considered for 
placement on the agenda.  Due to scheduling and time constraints, an item submitted by 
the public is not guaranteed to be placed on the next meeting’s agenda.  
 
Rule 9. Order of Business 
 
Generally, the business of all meetings of the Select Board shall be transacted as follows; 
provided, however that the Presiding Officer may, during a Select Board meeting, 
rearrange items on the agenda to conduct the business before the Select Board more 
expeditiously. 
 
   Call to Order 
   Secretary’s Report 
   Treasurer’s Report 
   Chair’s Report 
   Park Permits/Municipal Center Rentals 
   Department Reports (Projects, Issues, Reports Involving Town Staff) 
   Public Hearings (if necessary) 
   Old Business (Appointments and Continued Business) 
   New Business 
   Public Comment 
   Other Business (Board Reports and/or Issues) 
   Incoming & Outgoing Correspondence, Pending Items, Signing of Documents 
   Media Questions 
   Non-public Sessions (if necessary) 
   Adjourn 
  
Adjournment: No meeting should be permitted to continue beyond 10:00 PM without 
approval of a majority of the Select Board members who are present and eligible to vote.  
A new date and time must be established before taking a Select Board vote to extend the 
meeting.  In the event that a meeting has not been closed or continued by Select Board 
vote prior to 10:00 P.M., the items not acted on will be deferred to the next Select Board 
meeting, unless the Select Board, by a majority vote of members present, determines 
otherwise.  (Deleted 11/17/2008) 
 
Rule 10.  Town Administrator 
 
The Town Administrator, as the chief executive officer, shall attend all meetings of the 
Select Board, unless excused by the Presiding Officer of the Select Board.  The Town 
Administrator may take part in all Select Board’s discussions on all matters on the agenda, 
and otherwise concerning the welfare of the Town.  In the event that the Town 
Administrator is unable to attend a Select Board meeting, the Town Administrator may 
appoint another qualified staff member to attend the meeting on behalf of the Town 
Administrator. 



 

4 
 
 

 
Rule 11.  Clerk of the Select Board 
 
The Town Administrator shall be the Clerk of the Select Board and shall keep minutes 
and perform such other and further duties in the meeting as may be required.  The Town 
Administrator may delegate any of these functions to a member of his/her staff.  
 
 
 SECTION II 
 DUTIES AND PRIVILEGES OF MEMBERS 
 
Rule 12. Forms of Address 
 
The Chair of the Select Board shall be addressed as "Mr./ Madame Chair or as “Chairman 
(surname)."  The Vice Chair of the Select Board, when acting for the Chair, shall be 
addressed in the same manner.  Members of the Select Board shall be addressed as 
"Select Board member (surname)."  This is an optional Rule that may be adopted at the 
annual organizational meeting. 
 
Rule 13. Seating Arrangement 
 
Select Board members shall occupy the respective seats in the Public Hearing Room as 
assigned to them by the Chair. 
 
Rule 14.   Ethics Policy and Its Application. 
 

(A) Prior to any vote, each Select Board member should give consideration 
whether a potential violation of the Town Ethics Policy exists (See Appendix 
A).  If the Select Board member believes a potential violation may exist, no 
matter however remote, the Select Board member should disclose such 
facts to the Presiding Officer. 
 
(B) Whenever a Select Board member discloses there is a potential violation 
of the Ethics Policy, the Presiding Officer shall review the facts and rule 
whether the Select Board member shall vote in this instance.  The Presiding 
Officer's ruling shall be binding unless overruled by a vote of the majority of 
the Select Board. 

 
(C) Any member of the Select Board seeking to disqualify a Select Board 
member from participating in a decision on the basis of a potential violation 
of the Ethics Policy must raise the challenge as soon as the basis for 
disqualification is made known or reasonably should have been made 
known prior to the issuance of the decision; upon failure to do so, the Ethics 



 

5 
 
 

Policy may not be relied upon to invalidate the decision.  The party seeking 
to disqualify the Select Board member shall state, with specificity, the basis 
for disqualification.  Should such challenge be made prior to the hearing or 
vote, the Presiding Officer shall review the facts and rule whether the Select 
Board member shall participate and/or vote in this instance.  The Presiding 
Officer’s ruling shall be binding unless overruled by a vote of the majority of 
the Select Board. 
 
(D) The Presiding Officer shall have sole authority to postpone any matter 
or vote if and when a potential for a violation of the Ethics Policy exists in 
order for the Town Attorney to review the matter and render an opinion to 
the Select Board whether the Select Board member’s participation 
would/would not violate the Town's Ethics Policy. 

 
(E) After receiving the Town Attorney's opinion that a violation of the Ethics 
Policy exists, the Presiding Officer shall rule that the Select Board shall not 
participate and/or vote in the matter subject to the opinion.  The Select 
Board, by a two-thirds vote, may override the Presiding Officer’s ruling and 
the Select Board shall be permitted to participate and vote in the matter 
before the Select Board. 

 
Rule 15. Dissents and Protests 
 
Any Select Board member shall have the right to express dissent from or protest against 
any decision of the Select Board and have the reason therefore entered in the minutes. 
 
Rule 16.  Rules of Order 
 
To the extent these rules and orders are not comprehensive, all questions of order shall 
be resolved by reference to Robert's Rules of Order, if need be.  The Presiding Officer 
shall rule on all matters raised by this rule.  At the annual organizational meeting, the 
Board shall adopt Robert’s Rules of Order or such other written rules it deems appropriate 
and publish in Appendix B. 
 
RULE 17.  Motions 
 
 (A) Main Motions:  Main motions, motions to take from the table, and 

motions to take up a question previously postponed are in order only when 
no other question is under debate.  A main motion may be debated, 
amended, and reconsidered.  Motions to take from the table or to take up a 
question previously postponed may not be debated, amended, or 
reconsidered. 

 



 

6 
 
 

  (B) Subsidiary Motions.  When a question is under debate, the following 
motions shall be in order according to the following priority: 

 
 (1) To adjourn (may not be debated, amended, or reconsidered) 

rendering the main motion moot if adopted. 
 

  (2) To lay the question on the table (may not be debated, amended or 
reconsidered) If adopted, this renders the main motion moot if not 
taken from the table before adjournment. 

   
  (3) To call the question (may not be debated, amended, or 

reconsidered). 
 
  (4) To postpone the question to a date certain (may be debated, 

amended, and reconsidered). 
 
  (5) To postpone the question indefinitely (may be debated, and 

reconsidered, but not amended) rendering the main motion moot if 
adopted. 

 
  (6) To commit or refer to committee (may be debated, amended, and 

reconsidered). 
 
  (7) To amend (may be debated and reconsidered, but not amended). 
 
Rule 20.  Reconsideration and Recision. 
 
Following the final vote on a question, any Select Board member who the record indicates 
has voted with the prevailing side may move for reconsideration.  No such motion shall 
be in order unless it is made at the meeting at which the Select Board acted on the 
question, or at the next succeeding meeting provided, written notice is provided in 
sufficient time for matter to be included as an item on the agenda of the next succeeding 
meeting.  In the absence of such notice, no motion for reconsideration will be in order.  A 
motion to reconsider is debatable provided the subject question was debatable.  A motion 
to reconsider cannot be amended or reconsidered. 
 
Rule 21. Suspension of Rules. 
 

 A motion to suspend these rules shall be in order at any time except during discussion.  
A motion to suspend shall require a two-thirds vote of those present and voting. 
 
  



 

7 
 
 

Rule 22.     Actions for a Public Hearing 

The procedures for a public hearing are as follows: 

(A) At the outset of each public hearing, the Presiding Officer will announce 
the purpose of the public hearing and ask the parties wanting to speak to 
limit their presentations to information within the scope of the matter before 
the Select Board.   

 
(B) The Presiding Officer may call upon the Town Administrator or other 
appropriate party to describe the matter under consideration and/or read 
the public notice for the hearing. 

 
(C) Each speaker, for and against the matter before the Select Board for 
public hearing, shall identify himself or herself by name and address.  The 
Presiding Officer may limit the length of time allowed for speakers to 
address the Board.   

 
(D) During the hearing, any Select Board member shall be permitted to ask 
the speaker questions provided they are relevant to the matter before the 
Select Board for Public Hearing.  The Presiding Officer shall retain the right 
to determine the relevancy of any question. 

 
 (E) The Presiding Officer closes the public hearing. 
 
 (F) The Presiding Officer shall then inquire if there is a motion by any Select 

Board member.  If a motion is made, it shall be in the form of an affirmative 
motion.  Following the motion and its second, discussion occurs among 
Select Board members.  The Presiding Officer may call on individual Select 
Board members in the discussion. 

 
Rule 23.  Voting 
 
The votes during all meetings of the Select Board shall be transacted as follows: 
 

(A) The Presiding Officer may require any question to be submitted in 
writing before the vote, and shall state each question before the vote. 

 
(B) Unless otherwise provided for by statute, ordinance, or resolution, all 
votes shall be taken by voice, except that at the request of any Select Board 
member, a roll call vote shall be taken.  The Presiding Officer shall 
determine the order of the roll call vote.  In addition, the Presiding Officer 
may, at his sole discretion, require a show of hands to insure the proper 



 

8 
 
 

resolution of the vote.  Secret ballot votes by Boards, Committees, and 
Commissions are illegal in New Hampshire. 
 
(C) Every Board member who is in the hearing room when the question is 
called shall vote on the question before the Board.  Board members may, 
for good cause, recuse from a vote should they feel that to vote would 
constitute a violation of the Town's Ethics Policy, or that their participation 
in debate or voting would constitute a conflict of interest or other similar 
disqualifying circumstances.  That Select Board member shall at the 
beginning of the debate on any such motion announce their intention to 
recuse himself/herself and shall take no part in the debate and shall not vote 
on the issue.  The recused individual shall physically remove himself or 
herself from their assign seat until the disqualifying matter is no longer 
before the Board. 

 
Rule 24.  Committees/Liaisons 
 

 (A) Select Board Representatives:  Select Board members may serve as 
representatives and/or liaisons to various town organizations and 
committees.  These representatives shall be nominated and approved by 
the Select Board on an annual basis (usually at the first meeting following 
Town Meeting). 

 
 (B) Special Ad Hoc citizen advisory committees or task forces may be 

created by the Select Board for a particular purpose.  The Select Board 
upon appointment of special ad hoc committees shall define in writing a 
specific charge and expiration date.  All such committee members shall be 
nominated and approved by the Select Board.  Ad Hoc committees 
expirations shall be set by the Board, but shall be no later than the date of 
the first meeting of a new Select Board held after the close of the Annual 
Town Meeting, unless specifically continued by the Select Board thereafter 
for a specified time period.  One Select Board member, appointed by the 
Select Board, may serve as a representative to a citizen advisory committee 
as a voting member.   

 
 (C) The Town Administrator may assign Town employees to support various 

committees, but no staff person shall serve as a voting member of a study 
committee.  This rule shall not preclude the Select Board from directly 
appointing Town employees to serve on a committee in an “ex-officio” non-
voting capacity. 

 
 (D) Minutes of committee meetings shall be recorded in accordance with 

RSA 91-A, the NH Right to Know Law. 



 

9 
 
 

Rule 25.  Applications/Nominations/Appointments & Reappointments 
 
The procedure for nominating and appointing residents to town boards, commissions and 
committees shall determined by adopted policy by the Select Board.  At a minimum, that 
policy should addressbe as follows: 
 

1. Opportunities to serve on newly formed committees and vacancies 
on existing boards and commissions under the appointment authority 
of the Select Board shall be advertised by posting on the Town’s 
website, for at least a two week period prior to being filled.   

 
2. The Town Administrator shall bring forth all applications received for 

each position to the Select Board Chair for inclusion on the Board’s 
Agenda.  Applicants for open positions, shall first be placed on a 
Select Board meeting agenda “for consideration”, prior to being 
acted on at the next regular Select Board meeting.  At the time a 
name appears for a second time on an agenda, it shall be referenced 
on the agenda as “to be voted” and likewise when the name is listed 
“for consideration”. 

 
3. Reappointments to Boards & Commissions shall be done following a 

submittal of an application for the new term.  Existing members 
seeking reappointment shall submit a new application.  

 
Rule 25A.  Procedure of Single and Multiple Nominations 
 

 (A) Single nomination.  Whenever only one person is nominated to a 
particular position, the nomination shall be made by a member of the Select 
Board, and then seconded.  Once seconded, a vote is taken.  Should the 
person so nominated receive the majority of votes from that Select Board 
present, the nomination is confirmed.  If the majority of that Select Board 
present votes not to approve the nomination, the nomination shall be 
considered rejected and the name removed from further consideration. 

 
 (B) Multiple nominations.  Whenever there are multiple nominations for one 

position, each name will be placed in nomination with no requirement for a 
second, although a nomination may receive a second if a Board member 
wishes to do so.  When all nominations are closed, each member of the 
Select Board shall have an opportunity to speak regarding the qualifications 
of nominees, and then each Select Board member shall cast a vote for no 
more than one name.  The name receiving a majority of those Select Board 
members present and voting shall be deemed confirmed.  Should no one 
nomination receive a majority of the vote and there are more than two 



 

10 
 
 

nominations for the one position, then the nomination with the least number 
of votes received shall be removed from the second round of voting.  The 
Select Board shall then vote a second time on those nominations remaining.  
If the second vote fails to confirm an appointment, the Presiding Officer may 
order a third vote or declare the matter deadlocked and order the 
nomination be forwarded to the next meeting of the Town Select Board.  In 
the case of only two nominations not receiving a majority vote, the Presiding 
officer may order a second vote or order the nomination be forwarded to the 
next meeting of the Town Select Board. 

 
Rule 26. Enacted Ordinances, Resolutions and Motions - Defined 
 
 (A) An enacted ordinance is a legislative act prescribing general, uniform, 

and permanent rules of conduct relating to the corporate affairs of the 
municipality.  Select Board action shall be taken by ordinance when 
required by law, or to prescribe permanent rules of conduct, which continue 
in force until repealed, or where such conduct is enforced by penalty. 

 
 (B) An enacted resolution is an internal legislative action that is a formal 

statement of policy concerning matters of a special or temporary character.  
Select Board action shall be taken by resolution when required by law and 
in those instances where an expression of policy more formal than a motion 
is desired. 

 
 (C) An enacted motion is a form of action taken by the Select Board to direct 

that a specific action be taken on behalf of the municipality.  A motion, once 
approved and entered into the record, is the equivalent of a resolution in 
those instances where a resolution is not required by law. 

 
Rule 27. Resolutions 
 
Each resolution may be voted and approved on the same day on which it was introduced.  
The title of each resolution shall in all cases be read prior to its passage; provided, should 
a majority of the Select Board members present request that the entire resolution or 
certain of its sections be read, such requests shall be granted. 

 
RULE 28.  Ordinances 
 
The procedure for ordinances is as follows: 
 

(A) With the exception of Franchise Ordinances and any ordinance that 
imposes a financial penalty, an ordinance may be voted and approved on 
the same day on which it was introduced.  The title of each ordinance shall 



 

11 
 
 

in all cases be read prior to its passage; provided, should a majority of the 
Select Board members present request that the entire ordinance or certain 
of its sections be read, such requests shall be granted. 

 
(B) Any ordinance that imposes a financial penalty shall require two 
readings prior to adoption.  The second reading shall not be made at the 
same meeting at which the ordinance is introduced and read for the first 
time. 

 
(C) Franchises.  All resolutions and ordinances granting a franchise require 
two readings prior to adoption.  The second reading shall not be made at 
the same meeting at which the resolution or ordinance is introduced. 

 
(D) Emergency Ordinances.  The Board may, without notice or hearing, 
adopt an emergency ordinance authorizing expenditures for a public 
emergency as defined and prescribed in RSA Chapter 107-C. 

 
(E) Action on all ordinances and resolutions shall be governed by the 
following rules: 

 
(1) Prior to action on any ordinance or resolution, the proponent of the 
ordinance or resolution may seek a motion to introduce the ordinance or 
resolution by title only and to waive a reading of the entire ordinance or 
resolution.  If there is a second, and after discussion, the Presiding 
Officer shall call for the question and the Select Board shall vote whether 
to read the ordinance or resolution by title only.  Lacking such a motion 
or should this motion fail, the ordinance or resolution shall be read in its 
entirety. 
 
(2) The proponent shall then move the ordinance be read for the first 
time.  If there is a second, and after discussion, the presiding officer shall 
call the question and the Board shall vote on the first reading of the 
ordinance or resolution.  An affirmative vote of the Board shall constitute 
the first reading. 

 
(3) After an affirmative vote on the first reading, the Board may vote to 
further study the ordinance or vote to place the ordinance on the agenda 
of a subsequent meeting for final action.   

 
 

 (4) At such time as further action is in order, any Board member may 
move that the ordinance or resolution be read for a second time.  This 
motion shall be in order whether or not the ordinance or resolution was 



 

12 
 
 

amended during debate prior to the vote on the first reading or during 
committee deliberation. 

 
(5) After an affirmative vote on the second reading, the ordinance or 
resolution shall be deemed effective and shall be signed by the Chair 
and dated with the date of the final Board action. 
 

Rule 29.  Public Complaints and Suggestions 
 
When citizen complaints or suggestions are brought before the Select Board, other than 
for items already on an agenda, the Presiding Officer shall first determine whether the 
issue is legislative or administrative in nature and then: 
 

(A) If legislative, and a complaint about the letter or intent of legislative acts 
or suggestions for changes to such acts, and if the Select Board finds such 
complaint suggests a change to an ordinance or resolution of the Town, the 
Select Board may refer the matter to a committee, Administration or the 
Select Board as a whole for study and recommendation. 

 
(B) If administrative, and a complaint regarding administrative staff 
performance, administrative execution, or interpretation of legislative policy, 
or administrative policy within the authority of the Town Administrator, the 
Chair should then refer the complaint directly to the Town Administrator for 
his/her review if said complaint has not been so reviewed.  The Select Board 
may direct that the Town Administrator brief or report to the Select Board 
when his/her response is made. 



 

13 
 
 

APPENDIX A 

POLICY: ETHICAL CONDUCT 

The ethical Town official and employee accept the responsibility that his or her mission is 
that of servant and steward to the public.   

Accordingly, it shall be the policy of the Town of Stratham that public officials shall:  

• Properly administer the affairs of Town government  
• Promote decisions that only benefit the public interest.  
• Actively promote public confidence in government.  
• Keep safe all funds and other properties of the Town.  
• Conduct and perform the duties of the office diligently and promptly dispose 

of the business of the Town.  
• Maintain a positive image to pass constant public scrutiny.  
• Evaluate all decisions so that the best service or product is obtained at a 

minimal cost without sacrificing quality and fiscal responsibility.  
• Inject the prestige of the office into everyday dealings with the public 

employees and associates.  
• Maintain a respectful attitude toward employees, other public officials, 

colleagues and associates.  
• Effectively and efficiently work with governmental agencies, political 

subdivisions and other organizations in order to further the interest of the 
Town.  

• Faithfully comply with all laws and regulations applicable to the Town and 
impartially apply them to everyone. 

Officials shall not:  

• Engage in outside interests that are not compatible with the impartial and 
objective performance of his or her duties.  

• Improperly influence or attempt to influence other officials to act in his or her 
own benefit.  

• Accept anything of value from any source that is offered to influence his or 
her action as a public official. 

  



 

14 
 
 

APPENDIX B 

 

Optional Rules of Order:  None as of 09/21/2021 

 



Administrative Orders and Procedures 
 

2022 
 

Town of Stratham 
Select Board 

 
Adopted – March 21, 2022 

 
 
In accordance with the Town of Stratham Select Board Manual, the Select Board - at its first 
meeting each year following the close of the Town Meeting – adopts its Administrative Orders 
and Procedures.  The approval dates noted in the attached orders and procedures note the 
date of initial adoption by the Select Board.  Revision dates are also noted.   

 
 

List of Administrative Orders and Procedures 
 
 

1. Appointments to Boards & Commissions – Adopted November 9, 2020 
2. Facility Reservation Policies and Procedures – Adopted in 2020 
3. Political Advertising Relevant Laws & Policies – Adopted September 9, 2020 
4. Parks, Area, and Facilities Naming Policy - August 19, 2020 
5. Teleworking Policy – Adopted March 25, 2020 
6. Investment Policy - Adopted in 2020, readopted annually by Select Board 
7. Mailbox Policy – Adopted February 12, 2007 
8. Social Media Policy & Guidelines – Adopted July 7, 2017 
9. Winter & Inclement Weather Policy – Adopted May 16, 2005 

 
 

Select Board Reference Documents 
 
Employment Manual – revised 2011, with Addenda 
Memorandum of Understanding – Charitable Trust Unit - Stratham Fair 
Recreation Revolving Fund Policy (a policy of the Recreation Board) - adopted 11-18-2020 
Recreation Board Revised By-Laws (a policy of the Recreation Board) - adopted 2-12-2020 
 



Select Board - Board-Commission-Committee Assignments
3/21/2022

2021 Assignment 2022 Assignment Notes:

Boards/Commissions
Conservation Commission Allison Knab Statutory
Planning Board Mike Houghton Statutory
Heritage Commission Mike Houghton Statutory
Recreation Commission Joe Lovejoy Statutory
Public Works Commission Joe Lovejoy Statutory

Committee/Association
Fire Association Joe Lovejoy
Stratham Hill Park Association
Budget Advisory Committee
Fair Directors
Energy Commission Joe Lovejoy

Select Board - Department Linkages
Fire Joe Lovejoy Jeff Denton
DPW Joe Lovejoy Nate Mears
Finance Joe Lovejoy Christiane McAllister
Parks & Recreation Joe Lovejoy Seth Hickey
Town Clerk/Tax Collector Allison Knab Deb Bakie
Library Allison Knab Lesley Kimball
Police Mike Houghton Anthony King
Planning Mike Houghton Mark Connors
Building/Code Enforcement Jim Marchese
Assessing Mike Houghton David Moore

Elected-Statutory Boards
Supervisors of Checklist
Moderator
Trustees of Trust Funds
Cemetery Trustees
Library Trustees



























 
 

 
STRATHAM HERITAGE COMMISSION 

PRESERVATION EASEMENT ANNUAL MONITORING INSTRUCTIONS 
 
By the end of each calendar year, the following should take place: 
 

1. A representative of the Heritage Commission (HC rep) should coordinate with the 
Town’s Code Enforcement Officer / Building Inspector (CEO/BI) and schedule the 
annual site inspection with the property owner (PO). 
 

2. The HC rep should review the preservation easement document and past annual 
monitoring report(s) prior to the site inspection. 

 
3. On the date of the site inspection, the HC rep and CEO/BI should: 

a. Meet with the PO to view the property and review the terms of the easement; and 
b. Inspect the use and condition of the property to ensure its compliance with the 

easement terms; and 
c. Take photographs that document the current condition of the structure(s) and 

property, taking extra photographs if needed to document any particular areas of 
concern or potential violation of the easement; and 

d. Complete the Annual Monitoring Report (AMR) in writing; and 
e. Review the AMR and any areas of concern or potential violation with the PO. 
f. Obtain proof of insurance from the PO. 

 
4. After the site inspection the HR rep or CEO/BI should complete a typewritten AMR with 

photographs attached and a cover letter.  If there are areas of concern or potential 
violation of the easement, the Town should work in a cooperative manner with the PO to 
ensure correction of any problems.  If the PO is not cooperative, then the legal process 
outlined in the easement must be followed.  Copies of all documents shall be provided to: 

a. Town Administrator 
b. CEO/BI 
c. HC chairperson 
d. Property owner(s) 

 
5. The HC rep or HC chairperson should report on the monitoring visit and any follow-up 

activities to the full Heritage Commission at its next meeting.  The AMR should be 
attached to the meeting minutes. 
 

6. The Town Administrator or the Select Board representative to the HC should report on 
the annual monitoring visit and AMR to the full Select Board at its next meeting. 

TOWN OF STRATHAM 
INCORPORATED 1716 

 
10 BUNKER HILL AVENUE • STRATHAM NH 03885 

 
 VOICE (603) 772-7391 • FAX (603) 775-0517 

_________________________________________ 

 



 
 
 

STRATHAM HERITAGE COMMISSION 
PRESERVATION EASEMENT ANNUAL MONITORING REPORT 

 
PROPERTY:  ____________________________________________________________ 
 
DATE:   ____________________________________________________________ 
 
INSPECTED BY: ____________________________________________________________ 
 
APPROVED BY: ____________________________________________________________ 
 
PRESERVATION EASEMENT REQUIREMENTS TO VERIFY ANNUALLY: 

1. PROHIBITED ACTIONS:  Check to ensure that none of the following has occurred over 
the past year, or will occur over the coming year: 
a. Structure shall not be demolished, removed, or razed. 
b. No action shall be undertaken which would adversely affect structural soundness. 
c. Nothing shall be erected or be allowed to grow on the property which would impair 

visibility of the structure. 
d. Dumping of ashes, trash, rubbish, and any other unsightly or offensive material on the 

property is prohibited. 
e. No additional driveways, roads or overhead utility lines shall be placed on the 

property. 
f. No removal, filling, or other disturbance of the soil surface or topography. 

 
2. GRANTOR’S RESERVED RIGHTS:  Has there been, or will there be, a change in use 

of the property, or repairs or maintenance conducted on the structure(s)?  If NO, check 
here: ___ and skip the rest of this section.  If YES, review easement terms and these 
guidelines for compliance: 
a. Acts and uses of the property are unlimited so long as they: 

i. Comply with governmental regulations 
ii. Do not impair preservation values of the structure 
iii. Are consistent with the provisions of the covenants and preservation easement 

b. The right to maintain and repair the structure strictly according to addenda A1 & A2. 
i. Grantor must use like-kind materials and workmanship to that of the original 

rehabilitation or the original structure, as documented in the state historic 
register form and photographs. 

TOWN OF STRATHAM 
INCORPORATED 1716 

 
10 BUNKER HILL AVENUE • STRATHAM NH 03885 

 
 VOICE (603) 772-7391 • FAX (603) 775-0517 

_________________________________________ 

 



ii. Changes in appearance, materials, or workmanship must be approved in 
writing by Grantee. 

c. The right to undertake unlimited modifications to the interior, with the condition that 
such alterations do not: 

i. Alter any aspect of the exterior of the structure. 
ii. Conflict with the provisions of addendums A1 and A2. 

 
3. REVIEW OF STRUCTURE(S):  Conduct a thorough walk-around of the exterior of the 

building(s).  Check for the following: 
 

a. Condition of the site/grounds:  
i. Are plants or trees encroaching on the structure? 

ii. Is water from roofs, sidewalks, parking lots, driveways being adequately 
diverted away from the foundation and walls? 

iii. Is the site clean of debris, etc.? 
b. Condition of the foundation: cracks, palling, water infiltration, rodent infiltration? 
c. Condition of the walls:  paint, siding, trim? 
d. Condition of the roof and gutters (if applicable)? 
e. Condition of exterior doors and windows: 

i. Do they open/close properly and seal adequately? 
ii. Do they require maintenance (glazing, sealing, painting, etc.)? 

f. Condition of chimney(s) if applicable: missing bricks, stone, or mortar? 
g. Condition of porches, decks, sheds, garages, outbuildings (if applicable)? 

i. Is the decking and understructure sound and free of rot? 
ii. Are stairs and steps sound and with appropriate handrails? 

h. Check attic and basement for water infiltration, rodent damage, rot, etc. 
i. If the easement includes interior restrictions, inspect each area for compliance 

with the easement terms. 
 

4. OBSERVATIONS:  Did you observe any of the following?  If yes, please describe and 
document with photo(s): 

a. Any significant modifications, alterations, or repairs to the structure(s)?   
No __ Yes __   

b. Any violations of the terms of the Preservation Easement?   
No __ Yes __  

c. Any other issues or areas of concern with the structure(s) or maintenance:  
No __ Yes __  

d. Is/are historical marker signs (such as state or national register plaques or SHS 
placards) secured on the building as appropriate and in good condition? 
Yes __ No __ 
 

5. SUMMARY:   
a. Summarize any major work completed since the last monitoring report: 

 
b. Summarize any major work planned for the coming year: 

 
c. What is the overall condition of the property?   

Excellent __ Good __ Fair __ Poor __ 
 



 
6. OWNERSHIP:  Has there been a change in ownership of the property?  __ No __ Yes  

**If yes, review easement terms prior to transfer with the seller and with the buyer.** 
 

7. REQUIRED INSURANCE:  Grantor shall annually provide Grantee with certificate of 
casualty insurance, with Grantee named as additional insured, and which indicates 
Grantee shall be provided with 30 days advance notice of any termination or cancellation 
of said policy. 

 
8. PHOTOGRAPHIC DOCUMENTATION:  Attach a minimum of 4 photos (one of each 

side of the structure) to document the current condition of the structure on the date of 
inspection. Additional photographs should be included to document any areas of concern, 
deterioration, modification, or suspected violation of the terms of the preservation 
easement by grantor, tenants, or abutters of the property. 
 
 

 



RIGHT TO KNOW LAW

BASIC RULE: All meetings of public bodies must have proper 
notice and be open to the public.

•	 Public body: All committees, subcommittees, boards, 
commissions, agencies, etc. that perform a governmental 
function for a town, city, village district or school district. 
RSA 91-A:1-a.

•	 “Meeting”: The convening of a quorum (majority) of 
any public body to discuss or act on any of that body’s 
business, including work sessions. It is a “meeting” 
whether the members convene in person, by telephone, 
or electronic communication, or in any other way in 
which all members may communicate with each other 
contemporaneously. However, legal meetings may 
never be conducted by email or any other format which 
does not comply with notice and public accessibility 
requirements, or which does not allow the public to hear, 
read or discern the discussion contemporaneously at the 
noticed meeting location. RSA 91-A:2.

•	 What is not a meeting? Gatherings of fewer than a 
quorum; consultation with legal counsel; chance or social 
meetings neither planned nor intended to discuss official 
matters and at which no decisions are made; strategy or 
negotiations regarding collective bargaining.

•	 Notice: Minimum of 24 hours (not including Sundays or 
holidays), either published in a local newspaper or posted 
in two prominent public places, one of which may be 
the public body’s website. RSA 91-A:2. Other statutes or 
local rules may require more notice.

•	 “Open to the public”: Anyone, not just local residents, may 
attend, take notes, record and photograph the meeting. 
However, except as required in a public hearing, the 
public has no guaranteed right to speak. RSA 91-A:2.

•	 Telephone participation: Boards may (but do not have to) 
allow one or more members to participate in a meeting 
by telephone or other electronic means (RSA 91-A:2), if:
o	Physical attendance is not reasonably practical 

(note in meeting minutes);
o	All members can simultaneously hear and speak 

with each other;

RSA Chapter 91-A, New Hampshire’s Right to Know Law, Brief Municipal Overview

PUBLIC MEETINGS
o	Except in an emergency, a quorum is physically 

present in the noticed meeting location;
o	All parts of the meeting are audible or otherwise 

discernible to the public in that location.
•	 �Deliberations: Public bodies may only deliberate in 

properly held meetings and may not use communication 
outside a meeting (such as sequential emails or phone 
calls) to circumvent the spirit or purpose of the law.  
RSA 91-A:2-a.

MINUTES: Must be kept for all public meetings and made 
available to the public upon request within five business days 
after the meeting (whether or not approved yet). Must include 
members present, others participating, and a brief description 
of subjects discussed and final decisions made. RSA 91-A:2.

NONPUBLIC SESSIONS: Meetings or portions of meetings 
that the public may not attend. Begin in a properly noticed 
public meeting. A motion for nonpublic session is made and 
seconded, citing the statutory reason, and a majority roll call 
vote is taken. Once in the nonpublic session, only the reason(s) 
cited in the motion may be discussed. Minutes must be kept 
and (unless the board votes to seal them) made available to 
the public upon request within 72 hours after the meeting, 
whether or not approved yet. RSA 91-A:3. Nonpublic sessions 
are allowed only for reasons listed in RSA 91-A:3, II, including:

•	 Dismissal, promotion, compensation, disciplining, 
investigation or hiring of a public employee.

•	 Matters which would likely adversely affect the reputation 
of any non-board member.

•	 Buying, selling or leasing real or personal property 
if public discussion would give someone an unfair 
advantage over the municipality.

•	 Lawsuits filed or threatened in writing against the 
municipality, until fully adjudicated or settled.

•	 Preparation for and carrying out of emergency functions 
related to terrorism.

LEGAL INQUIRIES:  
800.852.3358, ext. 384

legalinquiries@nhmunicipal.org
www.nhmunicipal.org



DEFINED: Any information created, accepted or obtained by 
a quorum of a public body, or by a public agency (such as 
clerk’s office, town administrator or police department), in any 
physical format, received in or out of a meeting, in furtherance 
of its official function. RSA 91-A:1-a.

BASIC RULE: Governmental records must be made available 
to the public upon request unless they are exempt from 
disclosure under RSA 91-A:5 or another statute. Electronic 
records are treated the same way as paper records in this respect. 
RSA 91-A:4.

AVAILABILITY: Records must be available during business 
hours at the premises of the public body. If not immediately 
available, respond within five business days: provide the record, 
deny it in writing with reasons, or acknowledge it in writing 
with a note of the time needed to respond. RSA 91-A:4.

•	 Copies: Anyone may make notes, tapes or copies. Never 
hand over without supervision or lend records out. 
Citizens may be charged the actual cost of providing the 
copies. RSA 91-A:4.

•	 Format: Maintain in a manner accessible to the public. 
May provide in any format the municipality already has, 
but if one is more convenient, it must be made available. 
May provide electronic records by access to a municipal 
computer, or by a copy in standard or common file 
formats, a printout, or any other means reasonably 
calculated to comply with the request. RSA 91-A:4.

•	 Motive: The reason for requesting a governmental record 
is irrelevant; do not even ask.

•	 Raw materials: Tapes and notes used to compile meeting 
minutes are governmental records as long as they are 
retained; policy to discard/reuse after minutes are 
approved is acceptable.

•	 Partial release: If only part of a record is exempt from 
disclosure, the remainder should be released. Redact the 
exempt portion(s).

RSA Chapter 91-A, New Hampshire’s Right to Know Law, Brief Municipal Overview

GOVERNMENTAL RECORDS

LEGAL INQUIRIES:  
800.852.3358, ext. 384

legalinquiries@nhmunicipal.org
www.nhmunicipal.org

RETENTION OF RECORDS: RSA Chapter 33-A:3-a governs 
the length of time records must be kept. Keep electronic records 
for the same length of time as their paper counterparts. RSA 
91-A:4. However, if a record must be kept for more than 10 
years, it must also be transferred to paper or microfilm. RSA 
33-A:5-a. Do not destroy a record after a request has been made for 
it until the request is fulfilled or disputed requests are fully resolved. 
RSA 91-A:9.

DELETING ELECTRONIC RECORDS: Electronic records 
are not subject to disclosure under RSA 91-A after they have 
been “initially and legally deleted” so that they are no longer 
readily accessible to the public body or agency. A record is 
“legally” deleted if the retention period has ended and there are 
no outstanding or disputed requests for that item. To “delete,” 
you must empty the “Deleted Items” or “Recycle Bin” folder. RSA 
91-A:4.

EXEMPTIONS TO THE DISCLOSURE
REQUIREMENT INCLUDE:

•	 Records pertaining to internal personnel practices
•	 Medical, welfare, library user and videotape sales or 

rental records
•	 Confidential, commercial or financial information and 

any other record whose disclosure would be an invasion 
of privacy

•	 Notes or materials made for personal use that do not 
have an official purpose

•	 Preliminary drafts, notes or memoranda and other 
records not in their final form and not disclosed, 
circulated or available to a quorum of a public body

•	 Some law enforcement records (but not all)
•	 Written legal advice (until the client shares it with a 

third party outside the privilege)

RIGHT TO KNOW LAW



 

 

2022 SELECT BOARD MEETING SCHEDULE1 
Adopted by the Select Board on October 18, 2021 – REVISED February 15, 2022 

 

DATE OF MEETING  DEPARTMENT TO REPORT 

Monday, January 3, 2022  Police, 2022 Goals check-in 

Tuesday, January 18, 2022  Assessing, Planning, Legislative Delegation 

Thursday, February 3, 20222  Public Hearing on Budget/Warrant 

Monday, February 7, 2022  Parks & Recreation 

Tuesday, February 22, 2022  Town Meeting Preparations 

Monday, March 7, 2022  Library, 2022 Goals check-in 

Tuesday, March 8, 2022  Town Meeting (First Session - Ballot portion) 

Saturday, March 12, 2022  Town Meeting (Second Session) 

Monday, March 21, 2022  Public Works 

Monday, April 4, 2022  Treasurer Report and Fire, Building 

Monday, April 18, 2022  Assessing, Planning, 2022 Goals check-in 

Monday, May 2, 2022  Police 

Monday, May 16, 2022  Parks & Recreation 

Tuesday, May 31, 2022  Library, Legislative Delegation 

Monday, June 20, 2022  Public Works, 2022 Goals check-in 

Tuesday, July 5, 2022  Fire, Building 

Monday, July 18, 2022  Assessing, Planning 

Monday, August 1, 2022  Police, Parks & Recreation 

Monday, August 15, 2022  Signatures meeting only, if needed 

Tuesday, September 6, 2022  Library 

Monday, September 19, 2022  Public Works 

Monday, October 3, 2022  Treasurer Report, Building 

Monday, October 17, 2022  Assessing, Planning 

Monday, November 7, 2022  Police, Fire 

Monday, November 21, 2022  Parks & Recreation 

Monday, December 5, 2022  Public Works 

Monday, December 19, 2022  Fire, Building, 2022 Goals check-in 

                                                      
1 For reference only, school vacation weeks are February 28 to March 4th and April 25 to April 29th   
2 In accordance with NH RSAs as summarized by NH Municipal Association, the last day to hold a public hearing on the budget is 
February 11, 2021. This date is subject to finalization. 



 

Draft 2022 Strategy-Organization-wide Goals and Objectives 
 

1. Steward Water Resources Effectively and Proactively 
• Continue response to PFAS in Town Center including mitigation, ongoing testing & 

reporting, grant writing, and monitoring developments i.e. test results and impacted 
properties. 

• Inform the public about water quality threats to private drinking water wells and 
provide resources.  Monitor challenges facing public water systems in Stratham. 

• Improve regulations to address source water protection 
• Plan for the future management of PFAS contamination in Town Center 

 
2. Ensure Sustainable Future for Town Services 

• Build on Fire Department 2021 conversations 
• Attract candidates  for positions resulting from attrition and funded in 2022 budget 

 
3. Pursue Master Plan Implementation 

• Ensure rollout of Route 33 Zoning and establish processes  
• Issue Open Space RFP 
• Follow-up on Recommendations of Stratham Hill Park TMAC 
• Support Conservation Commission for preserving properties 
• Support Heritage Commission in preservation approaches and initiatives 

 
4. Increase Efficiency and Modernize Business Practices 

• Improve regular reporting to Select Board to facilitate financial oversight 
• Support Finance Office in revised accounting processes and procedures 
• First quarter “go-no-go” on Permit Software 
• Undertake update to Employment Manual. 

 




	sb AGENDA 3 21 2022
	Correspondance - Election Bake Sales (Not this election!)
	Correspondance - Law - Retirement Letter
	Information - Unitil
	Unitil ltr
	doorknob hangtag
	unitil maps
	notification request coupon

	2022 SB Boards and Commissions Assignments
	Sheet1

	SB Rules of Proc--Stratham 3-21-2022
	Suspension of Rules Page 6
	SECTION I
	Rule 1.  Select Board Meeting – Location and Posting
	Rule 3.   Select Board Meetings - Open to the Public

	Rule 4.     Election of Officers
	Old Business (Appointments and Continued Business)
	Adjourn
	Rule 13. Seating Arrangement
	Rule 15. Dissents and Protests

	RULE 17.  Motions

	Rule 26. Enacted Ordinances, Resolutions and Motions - Defined
	Rule 27. Resolutions
	RULE 28.  Ordinances

	OTH Monitoring Report & Monitoring Policy
	OTH Monitoring Report
	Easement Monitoring Report - final draft

	Informational Item - NHMA - 91-A Summary Public Meetings and Governmental Records
	Informational - 2022 - Select Board Meeting Schedule - Adopted 10-18-2021 - Revised 2-15-2022
	Informational Item - Draft 2022 Goals and Objectives
	Appointment - Nancy Hunter application
	ADP159F.tmp
	Sheet1




